Freund, On Law and Justice (1968), 146—62; For further bibliography
see R. Dahl and C. Bolden (eds.), American Judge (1968), nos. 4274-92
and 6366-437; PB. Kurland, Felix Frankfurter on the Supreme Court
(1970). ADD. BIBLIOGRAPHY: ].D. Hockett, R.E. Morgan, and G.J.
Jacobsohn (eds.), New Deal Justice: The Constitutional Jurisprudence
of Hugo L. Black, Felix Frankfurter, and Robert H. Jackson (1996); J.E.
Simon, Antagonists: Hugo Black, Felix Frankfurter and Civil Liberties
in Modern America (1989); N.L. Dawson, Louis D. Brandeis, Felix
Frankfurter and the New Deal (1980; M.I. Urofsky, Felix Frankfurter:
Judicial Restraint and Individual Liberties (1991).

[Paul A. Freund]

FRANKFURTER, MOSES (1672-1762), author, dayyan, and
printer in Amsterdam. Moses, the son of Simeon, established
a printing press in 1721 from which he issued books both in
Hebrew and Yiddish. He later moved to Frankfurt where he
died. Frankfurter wrote Nefesh Yehudah (1701), a commentary
on Isaac Aboab’s Menorat ha-Maor with a Yiddish translation
of the text. This very popular tract was often reprinted, as was
Sheva Petilot (1721), an abbreviated version of the same work.
Frankfurter translated into Yiddish and published his father’s
Sefer ha-Hayyim (1712). From it he compiled Shaar Shimon
(1714), prayers for the sick, in two parts, the second in Yid-
dish. He also wrote Zeh Yenahamenu (1712), a commentary
on the Mekhilta de-R. Ishmael. When Frankfurter was in se-
rious distress he sought comfort in dedicating himself to the
laborious task of correcting the text and commenting upon
it. He also wrote Tov Lekhet, notes to the law of mourning of
the Shulhan Arukh, Yoreh Deah (1746); Baer Heitev, glosses
to the Shulhan Arukh; Hoshen Mishpat (1749), patterned af-
ter Judah b. Simeon Ashkenazi’s Baer Heitev (1736—-42) on the
other three parts of the Shulhan Arukh. Frankfurter edited
several works, the most important being a new edition of the
rabbinic Bible Mikraot Gedolot (4 vols., Amsterdam, 1724-27),
adding 16 previously unpublished commentaries on the vari-
ous books of the Bible including his own commentary under
the title Kehillat Moshe; another group of this compilation in-
terpreting the whole Bible is Komez Minhah, Minhah Ketan-
nah, Minhah Gedolah, and Minhat Erev.

BIBLIOGRAPHY: M. Horovitz, Frankfurter Rabbinen, 2 (1883),

74f.
[Jacob Hirsch Haberman]

FRANKFURTER, SOLOMON FRIEDRICH (1856-1941),
Austrian librarian, pedagogue, and classical philologist.
Frankfurter was born in Pressburg and moved with his fam-
ily to Vienna in 1859. In 1881 he began working as a volun-
teer at the University of Vienna library, where from 1919 to
1923 he served as director. In 1909 he was been appointed the
first Jewish consultant on Jewish community questions to the
Austrian Ministry of Culture and Education. Frankfurter was
president of the Society for the Collection and Investigation of
Jewish Historic Monuments, president of the Bnai Brith, and
member or consultant of many boards responsible for Jewish
education and religion. He served briefly as director of the
Vienna Jewish Museum, but also acted as an advisor. From
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1934 to 1938 he was the only Jewish member of the Austrian
Bundes-Kulturrat (Federal Board for Cultural Questions).
When the Nazis invaded Austria (1938), he was arrested, but
was released shortly afterwards.

Frankfurter’s publications deal with archaeology; edu-
cation, particularly the important role of a classical gymna-
sium education; biographies; and Jewish subjects. His works
include Unrichtige Buechertitel mit einem Exkurs ueber he-
braeische Buechertitel (1906); Das altjuedische Erziehungs-und
Unterrichtswesen im Lichte moderner Bestrebungen (1910); Jo-
sef Unger 1828-1857 (1917), dealing with Unger’s youth; and
Zwei neugefundene mittelalterliche hebraeische Grabsteine in
Wien (1918).

U.S. Supreme Court Justice Felix *Frankfurter was his
nephew.

ADD. BIBLIOGRAPHY: N.H. Tur-Sinai, “Viennese Jewry;
in: J. Fraenkel (ed.), The Jews of Austria: Essays on their Life, History
and Destruction (1967), 315; L. Kolb, “The Vienna Jewish Museum,”
in: ibid., 149.

FRANKFURT ON THE MAIN (Heb. 7137 0719{217; abbr.
1"199), city in Germany with an ancient and important com-
munity.

Early History

Reports and legends about Jews residing in Frankfurt go
back to the earliest period in the city’s history. Frankfurt was
an important trading center, and Jewish merchants probably
visited its annual fall fairs. In 1074 Emperor Henry 1v men-
tions Frankfurt among the towns where the Jews of *Worms
were permitted to trade without having to pay customs dues.
During the 12t century Frankfurt had an organized and flour-
ishing community, though still numerically small. Financial
transactions and tax payments by Frankfurt Jews at that time
are frequently mentioned: *Eliezer b. Nathan of Mainz makes
repeated reference to the presence of Jewish merchants in
Frankfurt. In 1241 the Jewish houses were demolished by the
populace and over three-quarters of the approximately 200
Jews of Frankfurt were massacred. Among the victims were
three rabbis, including the hazzan; many of the survivors ac-
cepted baptism. A special prayer for the martyrs has been re-
tained in the liturgy for the Ninth of Av of the West German
congregations. Subsequently Frederick 11 appointed a com-
mission of inquiry, since the outbreak was an infringement of
his imperial prerogative and interests. It apparently originated
in a dispute over the forced conversion of a Jew. The city of
Frankfurt was ultimately granted a royal pardon. The safety of
the Frankfurt Jews was guaranteed and heavy penalties were
ordered against Jew-baiters.

By around 1270 Frankfurt had again become a busy
center of Jewish life. Two Jewish tombstones dated 1284 were
found under the altar of the cathedral in 1952. During the fol-
lowing decades all the customary Jewish institutions devel-
oped in Frankfurt. The medieval community had a central
synagogue (“Altschul”), a cemetery, a bathhouse, hospitals
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for local Jews and migrants, a “dance house” for weddings
and other social events, and educational and welfare insti-
tutions. During the first half of the 14 century the finan-
cial burden on the Frankfurt community, exploited by both
the city and the crown, grew steadily greater, but the profit
derived from the Jews protected them against the current
waves of persecution. However, the surge of bloodthirsty ha-
tred aroused by the *Black Death engulfed them along with
almost all the other communities in Europe. In 1349, shortly
after Emperor *Charles 1v had transferred his “Jewish rights”
to the city against a substantial consideration, the commu-
nity was completely wiped out, many of its members setting
fire to their own homes rather than meet death by the mob.
In 1360 Frankfurt reopened its gates to Jews. Their economic
function was still vital to the flourishing city of merchants
and craftsmen. However, the terms of resettlement imposed
drastic changes. Jews had to apply individually for the privi-
lege of residence, which usually had to be renewed annually
in return for payment of heavy taxes and other dues. A set of
statutes (Staettigkeit) regulated relations between the city and
the community. Rabbis and communal leaders of note in the
14 century included Suesskind Wimpfen, who redeemed the
body of *Meir b. Baruch of Rothenburg for ritual burial; and
*Alexander Susslin ha-Kohen.

15t to 17th Centuries

During the first half of the 15t century, the Jewish commu-
nity consisted of no more than 12 tax-paying families on the
average. The expulsion of the Jews, or their relocation to a re-
mote part of the city, was considered by the city council from
the 1430s. From the 1450s the Jews were forced to wear a dis-
tinctive badge, and Christians were forbidden to visit Jewish
festivities. After repeated interventions on the part of the em-
peror, and despite their strong resistance, the Jews of Frankfurt
were finally forced to settle in a specially constructed street
(Judengasse) outside the old city ramparts in 1462. Although
existence in this ghetto entailed severe physical and social
hardship to the community, its inner life developed even more
intensively. There were 110 registered inhabitants of the ghetto
in 1463, 250 in 1520, 900 in 1569, 1,200 in 1580, 2,200 in 1600,
and about 3,000 in 1610. Since the ghetto was never permitted
to expand beyond its original area, the existing houses were
subdivided, and back premises and additional storeys were
erected. The communal organization became stronger and
more diversified. Religious and lay leaders (Hochmeister and
Baumeister) were elected by the Jewish taxpayers, and a con-
tinual flow of takkanot laid the basis for powerful and jealously
guarded local traditions in all spheres of religious, social, and
economic life. Outstanding among the rabbis of the 15t cen-
tury was Nathan Epstein. Johannes *Pfefferkorn confiscated
some 1,500 Hebrew books from Frankfurt Jews. The Peasants’
War and religious wars of the 16 century repeatedly endan-
gered the community, and the guilds made serious inroads
into their economic activities. Nevertheless, conditions were
favorable to commercial enterprise, and by means of heavy
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financial contributions and skillful diplomacy the Frankfurt
Jews managed to safeguard their privileges. By the end of the
16t century the community reached a peak period of pros-
perity. It had become a center of Jewish learning, and stu-
dents from far away flocked to the yeshivot of Eliezer Treves
and Akiva b. Jacob Frankfurter. The Frankfurt rabbinate and
rabbinical court had become one of the foremost religious
authorities in Germany. Decisions were made by the presid-
ing rabbi in conjunction with the “members of the yeshivah”
(dayyanim). General *synods of rabbinic and lay leaders were
held at Frankfurt in 1562, 1582, and 1603.

However, economic and social antagonisms had long
been simmering between the wealthy patrician families of
the city and the guild craftsmen and petty traders, many of
whom were in debt to Jews. The struggle flared into open re-
bellion when in 1614 the rabble, led by Vincent *Fettmilch,
stormed the ghetto and gave vent to their anger by plunder-
ing the Jewish houses. The Jews were all expelled from the
city, but the emperor outlawed the rebels, and their leaders
were arrested and put to death (1616). Subsequently the Jews
were ceremoniously returned to the ghetto, an event annually
commemorated on Adar 20t by the Frankfurt community as
the “Purim Winz” (“Purim of Vincent”). Possibly a group of
wealthy Frankfurt Jews, among them Simeon Wolf, father of
the celebrated Court Jew Samuel *Oppenheimer, used their in-
fluence at the imperial court to bring about this result. Among
those who did not return to Frankfurt after the Fettmilch re-
bellion was Isaiah *Horowitz, the celebrated author of Shenei
Luhot ha-Berit, who had occupied the rabbinate from 1606.
Other leading rabbis of the period included his son Shabbetai
*Horowitz, Hayyim Cohen, grandson of *Judah Loew (the
Mabharal) of Prague, and Meir b. Jacob ha-Kohen *Schiff, a
native of Frankfurt. Joseph Yuspa *Hahn recorded the ritual
customs of the Frankfurt community in his Yosif Omez. These
were a source of special pride to the Frankfurt Jews, known for
their local patriotism. Joseph Solomon *Delmedigo was for
some years employed as communal physician. Aaron Samuel
*Koidonover and his son Zevi Hirsh *Koidonover were also
members of the Frankfurt rabbinate. The community did not
grow numerically during the 17th century owing to the un-
healthy conditions of their overpopulated quarter and the
excessive taxes imposed upon them during the Thirty Years’
War. In addition, the terms of residence were designed to keep
their number stationary, allowing a maximum of 500 families
and 12 marriage licenses annually. At the end of the 17th cen-
tury the community made successful efforts to prevent Johann
*Eisenmenger from publishing his anti-Jewish book.

18th Century

In 1711 almost the entire Jewish quarter was destroyed by a fire
which broke out in the house of the chief rabbi, Naphtali b.
Isaac *Katz. The inhabitants found refuge in gentile homes, but
had to return to the ghetto after it had been rebuilt. J.J. *Schudt
gave a detailed account of Jewish life at Frankfurt in this pe-
riod. The importance of the Frankfurt Jewish community of
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that era is indicated by the official recognition of its represen-
tatives (“Residenten”) in Vienna from 1718. The penetration of
Enlightenment found the community in a state of unrest and
social strife. Communal life had long been dominated by a
few ancient patrician families, some of whom were known
by signs hanging outside their houses, like the *Rothschild
(“Red Shield”), Schwarzschild, Kann, and Schiff families. The
impoverished majority challenged the traditional privileges of
the wealthy oligarchy, and the city council repeatedly acted as
arbitrator between the rival parties. Controversies on religious
and personal matters such as the *Eybeschuetz-*Emden dis-
pute further weakened unity in the community. Nevertheless,
there was no decline in intellectual activity, and the yeshivot
of Samuel Schotten and Jacob Joshua b. Zevi Hirsch *Falk at-
tracted many students. The movement for the reformation of
Jewish education fostered by the circle of Moses *Mendelssohn
in Berlin found many sympathizers in Frankfurt, especially
among the well-to-do class who welcomed it as a step toward
*emancipation. Forty-nine prominent members of the com-
munity subscribed for Mendelssohn’s German translation of
the Bible (1782), but the chief rabbi, Phinehas *Horowitz, at-
tacked the book from the pulpit. When in 1797 a project was
advocated for a school with an extensive program of secu-
lar studies, Horowitz pronounced a ban on it. He was sup-
ported by most of the communal leaders, though many had
their children taught non-Jewish subjects privately. The ban
had to be withdrawn by order of the magistrate. Some years
previously, Horowitz had acted similarly against the kabbal-
ist Nathan *Adler. Meanwhile the French revolutionary wars
had made their first liberating impact on Frankfurt Jewry. In
1796 a bombardment destroyed the greater part of the ghetto
walls, and in 1798 the prohibition on leaving the ghetto on
Sundays and holidays was abolished.

19t and 20t* Centuries

The incorporation of Frankfurt in Napoleon’s Confederation
of the Rhine (1806) and the constitution of the grand duchy of
Frankfurt (1810) gradually changed the status of the Frankfurt
Jews, bringing them nearer emancipation. In 1811 the ghetto
was finally abolished, and a declaration of equal rights for
all citizens expressly included the Jews, a capital payment of
440,000 florins having been made by the community. How-
ever, the reaction following Napoleon’s downfall brought bit-
ter disappointment. The senate of the newly constituted Free
City tried to abolish Jewish emancipation and thwarted the
efforts made by a community delegation to the Congress of
*Vienna. After prolonged negotiations, marked by the “*Hep-
Hep” anti-Jewish disorders in 1819, the senate finally promul-
gated an enactment granting equality to the Jews in all civil
matters, although reinstating many of the old discriminatory
laws (1824). The composition and activities of the commu-
nity board remained subject to supervision and confirmation
by the senate. Meanwhile the religious rift in the community
had widened considerably. Phinehas Horowitz’s son and suc-
cessor, Zevi Hirsch *Horowitz, was powerless in face of the
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increasing pressure for social and educational reforms. He
did in fact renew his father’s approbation of Benjamin Wolf
*Heidenheim’s edition of the prayer book which included a
German translation and a learned commentary. However,
this first stirring of *Wissenschaft des Judentums could not
satisfy those in the community desiring reform and assimila-
tion. In 1804 they founded a school, the Philanthropin, with
a markedly secular and assimilationist program. This institu-
tion became a major center for reform in Judaism. From 1807
it organized reformed Jewish services for the pupils and their
parents. In the same year a Jewish lodge of *Freemasons was
established, whose members actively furthered the causes of
reform and secularization in the community. From 1817 to
1832 the board of the community was exclusively composed
of members of the lodge. In 1819 the Orthodox heder insti-
tutions were closed by the police, and the board prevented
the establishment of a school for both religious and general
studies. Attendance at the yeshivah, which in 1793 still had 6o
students, dwindled. In 1842 the number of Orthodox families
was estimated to account for less than 10% of the community.
In that year, a Reform Association demanded the abolition of
all “talmudic” laws, circumcision, and the messianic faith. The
aged rabbi, Solomon Abraham Trier, who had been one of the
two delegates from Frankfurt to the Paris *Sanhedrin in 1807,
published a collection of responsa from contemporary rab-
bis and scholars in German on the fundamental significance
of circumcision in Judaism (1844). A year later a conference
of rabbis sympathizing with reform was held in Frankfurt. A
leading member of this group was Abraham *Geiger, a native
of Frankfurt, and communal rabbi from 1863 to 1870. The rev-
olutionary movement of 1848 hastened the emancipation of
the Frankfurt Jews, which was finally achieved in 1864. The
autocratic regime of the community board weakened consid-
erably. A small group of Orthodox members then seized the
opportunity to form a religious association within the com-
munity, the “Israelitische Religionsgesellschaft,” and elected
Samson Raphael *Hirsch as their rabbi in 1851. The Roth-
schild family made a large donation toward the erection of a
new Orthodox synagogue. When the community board per-
sisted in turning a deaf ear to the demands of the Orthodox
minority, the association seceded from the community and
set up a separate congregation (1876). After some Orthodox
members, supported by the Wuerzburg rabbi, Seligmann Baer
*Bamberger, had refused to take this course, the community
board made certain concessions, enabling them to remain
within the community. A communal Orthodox rabbi, Marcus
*Horovitz, was installed and a new Orthodox synagogue was
erected with communal funds. From then on the Frankfurt
Orthodox community, its pattern of life and educational in-
stitutions, became the paradigm of German Orthodoxy. The
Jewish population of Frankfurt numbered 3,298 in 1817 (7.9%
of the total), 10,009 in 1871 (11%), 21,974 in 1900 (7.5%), and
29,385 in 1925 (6.3%). During the 19'? century many Jews from
the rural districts were attracted to the city whose economic
boom owed much to Jewish financial and commercial enter-

209



FRANKFURT ON THE MAIN

prise. The comparative wealth of the Frankfurt Jews is shown
by the fact that, in 1900, 5,946 Jewish citizens paid 2,540,812
marKks in taxes, while 34,900 non-Jews paid 3,611,815 marks.
Many civic institutions, including hospitals, libraries and mu-
seums, were established by Jewish donations, especially from
the Rothschild family. The Jew Leopold *Sonnemann was the
founder of the liberal daily Frankfurter Zeitung, and the es-
tablishment of the Frankfurt university (1912) was also largely
financed by Jews. Jewish communal institutions and organiza-
tions included two hospitals, three schools (the Philanthropin
and the elementary and secondary schools founded by S.R.
Hirsch), a yeshivah (founded by Hirsch’s son-in-law and suc-
cessor Solomon *Breuer), religious classes for pupils attending
city schools, an orphanage, a home for the aged, many wel-
fare institutions, and two cemeteries (the ancient cemetery
was closed in 1828). Frankfurt Jews were active in voluntary
societies devoted to universal Jewish causes, such as emigrant
relief and financial support for the Jews in the Holy Land
(donations from Western Europe to the Holy Land had been
channeled through Frankfurt from the 16t century). The year-
book of the Juedisch-Literarische Gesellschaft was published
in Frankfurt, and the Orthodox weekly Der Israelit (founded
in 1860) was published in Frankfurt from 1906. The Jewish de-
partment of the municipal library, headed before World War 11
by the scholar A. Freimann, had a rare collection of Hebraica
and Judaica. During the first decade of the 20 century addi-
tional synagogues were erected, among them a splendid one
situated at Friedberger Anlage. In 1920 Franz *Rosenzweig
set up an institute for Jewish studies, where Martin *Buber,
then professor at the Frankfurt university, gave popular lec-
tures. Two additional yeshivot were established, one by Jacob
Hoffman, who in 1922 succeeded Nehemiah Anton *Nobel in
the Orthodox rabbinate of the community. Others prominent
in Frankfurt Jewish life include the writer Ludwig *Boerne;
the historian L.M. *Jost; the artists Moritz *Oppenheim and
Benno *Elkan; the biochemist Paul *Ehrlich; the economist
and sociologist Franz *Oppenheimer; rabbis Jacob *Horowitz
and Joseph *Horowitz (Orthodox); Leopold Stein, Nehemiah
Bruell, Caesar *Seligmann (Reform); and the Orthodox lead-
ers Jacob *Rosenheim and Isaac *Breuer.

[Mordechai Breuer / Stefan Rohrbacher (24 ed.)

Holocaust Period

After a number of attacks on individual Jews and the occupa-
tion of the famous Institut fuer Sozialforschung on March 5,
1933, the official Nazi action against the Jews began on April
1, 1933, with a boycott of Jewish businesses and professionals,
followed on April 7 by the dismissal of Jewish white-collar
workers, university teachers, actors, and musicians. State and
party pressure subsequently resulted in the closing or “ary-
anization” of almost all Jewish-owned firms, while local sa
units and Nazi students terrorized Jewish citizens. Though
originally prohibited, these arbitrary actions were in later years
legalized by the Reich government which helped to organize
and coordinate them. The Jewish community reacted by ex-
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panding existing services, establishing new agencies for eco-
nomic aid, reemployment, occupational training, schooling,
adult education, and emigration. All institutions were under
strict surveillance by the Gestapo.

On Nov. 10-11, 1938, the big synagogues of the two Jewish
communities, situated at Friedberger Anlage, Dominikaner-
platz (formerly Boerneplatz), Grosser Wollgraben (formerly
Boernestrasse), and Freiherr-vom-Stein-Strasse were burned
down. Community buildings including the Jewish Museum
(Museum juedischer Altertuemer), the Jewish homes, and
stores were stormed and looted by the sa, the ss, and mobs
they had incited. More than 2,600 Jewish men were arrested
and sent to the *Buchenwald concentration camp and around
530 to the *Dachau concentration camp. Members of the Or-
thodox Religionsgesellschaft were compelled to combine with
the general community to form a single community organiza-
tion which the Nazis named Juedische Gemeinde. In 1939 this
autonomous community was forcibly merged into the state-
supervised Reichsvereinigung. Jewish leaders were compelled
to enter into Judenvertraege, transferring communal property
to municipal ownership. Welfare foundations taken over by
the municipal authorities in December 1938 were placed un-
der direct Gestapo control in May 1940. Gestapo Officer Ernst
Holland, who was also a city official, supervised until 1943 Jew-
ish welfare and emigration, later organizing labor recruitment
and “orderly proceedings” before deportation.

The Frankfurt community decreased by emigration from
26,158 in 1933, t0 10,803 in June 1941, although there was an in-
flux of Jewish families from the countryside. Deportations to
Lodz began on October 19, 1941, and were followed by depor-
tations to *Minsk, *Majdanek, *Kovno (Kaunas), *Theresien-
stadt, and other camps. In September 1943, after large-scale
deportations stopped, the Jewish population in Frankfurt to-
taled 602, including half-Jews. The last deportation to There-
sienstadt took place on March 15, 1945, only two weeks before
the U.S. army occupied the city and liberated around 150 Jews
and so-called Mischlinge.

[Eleanor Sterling-Oppenheimer / Jens Hoppe (274 ed.)

After World War 11

After the war, a new community was organized, consisting of
those who had outlived the war in Frankfurt, survivors from
concentration camps, and displaced persons, totaling 1,104 in
1952. They were joined by a number of pensioners and Israelis,
and the community increased to 2,566 by 1959 and 4,350 by
1970, to become the largest in West Germany (excepting that
of Berlin); the average age of its members was 45.4, and two
thirds were aged over 40. One of the large synagogues was re-
built, and by 1970 five prayer rooms were also in use. The first
postwar Jewish elementary school in Germany was opened
there in 1965, and a communal periodical Frankfurter juedi-
sches Gemeindeblatt commenced publication in March 1968.
A 200-bed home for the aged was opened in 1968. Due mainly
to the immigration of Jews from the former Soviet Union,
the number of community members rose from 4,842 in 1989
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to 7063 in 2003. The community has four synagogues. The
Philanthropin was reopened as an elementary school in 2004.
A Jewish museum was inaugurated in 1988 in the former pala-
tial residence of the Rothschild family, with a branch opened
in 1992 on the site of the Judengasse. The Frankfurt municipal
and university library holds one of the most important collec-
tions of Judaica books and manuscripts in Germany.

[Henry Wasserman]

Printing

The book fairs of Frankfurt were visited by Jewish printers
and booksellers as early as 1535. Some Hebrew printing was
carried on in Frankfurt as early as the 16% century; in 1512
the brothers Murner published “Grace after Meals” Hebrew
printing seriously developed in Frankfurt in the 17t century.
The earliest work, Megillat Vinz (Fettmilch), was published by
Isaac Langenbuch after the Fettmilch riots (see above). From
1657 to 1707 Balthasar Christian Wust and later his son (?) Jo-
hann issued a great number of Hebrew books. For this part
of their work they employed Jewish printers and other Jew-
ish personnel, and found Jewish financial backing. (As Jews
could not obtain printing licenses, they used Christian firms
as a front.) They printed mainly liturgical items, but also a
Pentateuch with a German glossary (1662), and bibles (1677,
1694); and Wallich’s Yiddish Kuhbuch (1672). Several other
Hebrew printers published books in the late 17" and early 18"
centuries. An important publisher was Johann Koellner, who
in 20 years of printing was responsible for about half of the
books issued in Frankfurt. Among his more important pub-
lications were the Arbauah Turim (5 vols., 1712—16), and an ex-
cellent Talmud edition (1770-23). Soon after the completion
of the latter, the whole edition was confiscated and was only
released 30 years later. In the first half of the 19t® century the
names of seven non-Jewish printing houses are known. Sub-
sequently Jewish printers emerged for the first time. Among
them were J.H. Golda (1881-1920), E. Slobotzki (from 18s5),
and the bookseller J. Kauffmann, who took over the *Roede-
lheim press of M. Lehrberger in 1899. Hebrew printers were
active in places like *Homburg, *Offenbach, *Sulzbach, Ro-
edelheim, and others in the neighborhood of Frankfurt, be-
cause Jewish printers were unable to establish themselves
in Frankfurt.

Music

The liturgical music and *hazzanut of the Frankfurt commu-
nity represent the archetype of the western Ashkenazi tradi-
tion. It can be traced to the 15t"-century codifier Jacob *Moellin
(Maharil), and is marked by an adherence to tradition which
made any deviation from the customary melodies (some of
which were credited with divine origin, “*mi-Sinai”) a re-
ligious offense. Thus the principal qualification required of
cantors was a precise acquaintance with the details of musi-
cal custom (minhag). Liturgical poems (piyyutim) had a place
of prime importance, especially as some of them were linked
with the history of the community, and little scope was given
to the cantor’s capacity for musical invention or improviza-
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tion. When at the beginning of the 16t century, the Sabbath
hymn Lekhah Dodi came into vogue in many communities, it
caused sharp controversy among Frankfurt Jews, and though
finally accepted, it had to be chanted for many years by an as-
sistant cantor in order to stress its non-compulsory character.
Every special event in the Jewish year was marked by a festive,
solemn, or plaintive tune, as the occasion demanded. Every
month and every festival had an appropriate melody of its own,
which was intoned by the cantor at the Blessing of the New
Moon. Thus the liturgical music served as a “musical calendar”
When a festival or New Moon fell on a Sabbath, the cantor had
to give each its musical share (“me-inyono”). This was achieved
mainly by mingling variants of the Kaddish melodies, of which
there existed more than 25. On Simhat Torah the “Year’s Kad-
dish” recapitulated the whole range of the “musical calendar”
Great stress was laid on correct reading and cantillation of the
Bible, and many verses of special importance were chanted
to particularly solemn tunes. In spite of the strict traditional-
ism, many Frankfurt melodies show the influence of German
folksong; the one employed for the *Priestly blessing on the
High Holidays is derived from the popular Frankfurt “Fass-
baenderlied” (Coopers’ song). The melody sung in the syna-
gogue on the annual celebration of Purim Winz (see above)
was derived from the march tune of the military escort that
led the Jews back to the Frankfurt ghetto after the riots of 1616.
In the 19t century the Reform movement installed an organ
in the main Frankfurt synagogue, whereupon the Orthodox
congregation introduced a male choir in their own synagogue
with .M. *Japhet as musical director.
[Mordechai Breuer]
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S.Z. Geiger, Divrei Kehillot (1862); S. Scheuermann, Die gottesdienst-
lichen Gesaenge der Israeliten fuer das ganze Jahr (1912); FE. Ogutsch,
Der Frankfurter Kantor (1930).

FRANKFURT ON THE ODER, city in Brandenburg, Ger-
many. Jews were living in Frankfurt before 1294, when a dis-
pute between Jews and the slaughterers’ guild there was set-
tled. The Jews were not permitted to own houses, and lived
in rented dwellings, referred to as Judenbuden. They mainly
engaged in small trading and moneylending. In 1399 the com-
munity relinquished its cemetery for a larger one. From the
second half of the 15t century the local merchants made con-
tinual complaints about economic competition by the Jews
and the rate of interest they charged. In 1506 the synagogue
was demolished and the new university was erected on the site.
The Jews of Frankfurt were expelled with the rest of *Bran-
denburg Jewry in 1510. They later returned, and in 1564 there
were nine Jewish familes living in Frankfurt, and 11 in 1567.
They were again expelled in 1573. When a number of Jews were
admitted to Brandenburg in 1671, a new community grew up
in Frankfurt. The university there was the first in Germany
to admit Jews. The first two Jewish students registered at the
faculty of medicine in 1678, and others followed from all over
Europe and even Jerusalem. Between 1739 and 1810 about 130
Jews studied there, and between 1721 and 1794, 29 graduated in
medicine. The community numbered 592 in 1801; 399 in 1817;
around 800 in the 1840s; and 891 in 1880. Subsequently it de-
clined to 747 around 1900; 669 in 1925; and 586 in 1933.

In the 18t century many Jews from Poland attended the
fairs in Frankfurt. In 1763 a conference of Polish rabbis headed
by Gershon of Frankfurt settled a dispute between the print-
ing houses of Amsterdam and Sulzbach concerning the pub-
lication of the Talmud.

Following the spread of the *Reform movement in the
first half of the 19t century, the Orthodox members in Frank-
furt seceded from the liberals and opened a prayer hall of their
own. Samuel *Holdheim served as rabbi in Frankfurt from
1836 to 1840. In 1861 the first society for the colonization of
Erez Israel was founded in Frankfurt by Hayyim *Lorje. The
scholar Judah *Bergmann officiated as rabbi there at the be-
ginning of the 20" century, and the leader of liberal Judaism
in Germany, Ignaz *Maybaum, was rabbi of the community
between 1928 and 1936. In 1933 the community had a syna-
gogue, a cemetery, three charitable societies, local chapters
of the “Reichsbund Juedischer Frontsoldaten” and a *B’nai
Brrith lodge. The Orthodox members rejoined the main com-
munity in 1934.

Under the Nazis the Frankfurt Jews suffered the same fate
as those in the rest of Germany. Rabbi Maybaum was arrested
and confined to the notorious Colombia prison in Berlin; later
the charges against him were suspended. In the November po-
grom known as Kristallnacht the synagogue was burned, Jew-
ish businesses were destroyed, and several Jewish men were
sent to Sachsenhausen. By May 1939 there were 184 Jews and
122 Mischlinge in the city. Jews were deported before the out-
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break of World War 11 and eventually transported to Lublin
Reservation. Twenty-four Jews from Frankfurt were deported
to *Theresienstadt on Aug. 27, 1942, and three on June 16, 1943.
The Jewish community was reestablished after the war and
numbered 200 in 1958 but declined thereafter until the ar-
rival of Jews from the former Soviet Union, who refounded
the community in 1998. It numbered 222 in 2005. A memo-
rial site (inaugurated in 1988) commemorates the destroyed
synagogue. As Frankfurt on the Oder was divided after 1945
the Jewish cemetery is located in Slubice, Poland.

Printing

The earliest Hebrew book printed in Frankfurt on the Oder
was a Pentateuch printed by J. and F. Hartman in 1595. Eighty
years later J.C. Beckman, professor of theology at the local uni-
versity, obtained a license to extend the privilege to print in
Hebrew, and a Pentateuch with haftarot and the Five Scrolls,
as well as other books, were published in 1677.

The most important work published there was a new edi-
tion of the Talmud (1697-99). The Court Jew Berend *Lehm-
ann of Halberstadt invested in it and presented a large number
of the 2,000 sets printed to various communities, battei mi-
drash, and yeshivot. Further editions were printed in 1715-22
and 1736-39. Michael Gottschalk succeeded Beckman as man-
ager and before 1740 Professor Grillo bought Gottschalk’s
press. It continued in his family until the end of the century,
and in the hands of his successor, C.E. Elsner, until 1813. Gril-
los’ turnover in trade of Hebrew books reached 80,000 Reich-
sthaler annually — a measure of the importance of the press
for Germany and Eastern Europe. The main midrashim, Yal-
kut Shimoni, the Zohar, and other important rabbinic works
were printed in Frankfurt on the Oder. As the result of the
Prussian legislation of 1812, it was possible in 1813 for Hirsch
Baschwitz, a Jew, to acquire the Hebrew printing press from
Elsner. In turn, he sold the business in 1826 to Trebitsch &
Son of Berlin.
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g [Chasia Turtel]

FRANKINCENSE (Heb. mia?), the chief ingredient of the
Temple *incense. It is mentioned a number of times among
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